DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

DOCKET NO. 20-0099



STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, PLAINTIFF BELOW, RESPONDENT.

VS.

JOHN THOMAS CAMPBELL DEFENDANT BELOW, PETITIONER

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Eric M. Francis Counsel for Petitioner 229 Randolph St. W Lewisburg, WV 24901 304-647-3058 304-647-3059 fax emfrancis4888@yahoo.com

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The petitioner contends that the lower Court erred: (1) by not suppressing the statement made by the petitioner on November 29, 2011; (2) by not giving a jury instruction in the charge that dealt with the voluntariness of the statement; (3) the petitioner's trial counsel was ineffective in defending the petitioner before the lower Court; and (4) the cumulative error as mentioned above also requires this Court to set aside the jury verdict in this case.

II.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Now comes John Thomas Campbell, the petitioner herein, by counsel, Eric M. Francis, and respectfully submits unto this Honorable Court his Petition for Appeal Brief.

III.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The lower Court did not suppress the petitioner's November 29, 2011 statement.

119

- The lower Court's failure to give a jury instruction on the voluntariness of the petitioner's November 29, 2011 statement after trial counsel requested it is in error and requires reversal.
- The petitioner's trial counsel's inactions in the May 20, 2013 suppression hearing rises to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel which also requires reversal.
- The errors stated above separately or combined put the lower Court's verdict in such doubt that it rises to the level of cumulative error which requires reversal.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The petitioner respectfully <u>requests</u> oral arguments in this matter and requests such under Rule 19 of Appellate Procedure or any other such Rule that would permit oral arguments in this case.

V.

JURISDICTION

This Petition is brought as a direct appeal from a lower Court, and as such, the West Virginia Supreme Court has the right to hear any appeal from any Circuit Court in West Virginia, as the Constitution of the State of West Virginia has granted original jurisdiction in such matters unto the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals and all Circuit Courts. The Petitioner now timely appeals that decision.

VI.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 8, 2012, the Greenbrier County, West Virginia grand jury returned a true bill against the petitioner for violation of West Virginia Code §61-8D-5 (App. 507-508). The indictment was given the number 12-F-34 (App. 507). At the arraignment, the petitioner was appointed counsel from the Greenbrier County Public Defender's Office (App. 521-524) and entered a not guilty plea. The State filed a Motion to Determine the Admissibility of Defendant's Statement on April 11, 2012 (App. 526-529). In response, the Greenbrier County Public Defender's office filed a "Motion to Suppress the Defendant's Statement", on or about April 20, 2012 (App. 538-543).

However, the Greenbrier County Circuit Court entered a "Substitution of Counsel Order" dated December 17, 2012 (App. 565), at which time the petitioner was represented by E. Lavoyd Morgan, Jr.¹, ². On or about May 20, 2013, the Greenbrier County Circuit Court heard evidence on the matter as to the admissibility of the petitioner's statement (App. 97-134), at which time, the lower Court ruled the petitioner's statement was admissible at trial (App. 129). The two day trial began on May 21, 2013 (App. 35). The petitioner was convicted of violating West Virginia Code §61-8D-5 (App. 376). The record does <u>not</u> show when or if trial counsel filed a new trial motion or an appeal of the petitioner's case. However, trial counsel, at the first sentencing hearing, requested and received a psychological evaluation of the petitioner (App. 388,398). The petitioner was granted an alternative sentence (App. 434); at some point thereafter, the petitioner violated the terms of his alternative sentence and was incarcerated (App. 454-455).

While incarcerated, the petitioner, pro se, filed a habeas corpus petition. The lower Court³, in response to said petition, ordered counsel be appointed⁴ for the petitioner and directed said counsel to appeal said conviction. Petitioner's current counsel tried earlier and failed to appeal said conviction.⁵ Once the final Order was entered, petitioner's current counsel timely appealed the petitioner's conviction on criminal action number 12-F-34 in Greenbrier County Circuit Court,

¹ This attorney has been disbarred. See Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. E. Lavoyd Morgan, Jr., No. 19-0885 (2020).

² The trial counsel may have acted similarly to this defendant as he did to client's discussed in 19-0085(2020).

³ At that, the lower Court judge was different than the trial court judge in this matter.

⁴ Current counsel is Eric M. Francis.

⁵ Current counsel tried to file an appeal earlier, but the final order in this matter had not been entered at that time.

VII.

ARGUMENT

1. The lower Court did not suppress the petitioner's November 29, 2011 statement.

The petitioner, by counsel, recognizes its burden to establish that the petitioner's statement was not voluntary is sizable, but not insurmountable. While many cases, such as State
V. Farley, 452 S.E.2d 50, 192 W.Va. 247 (1994) state: "In circumstances where a trial court admits a confession without making specific findings as to the totality of the circumstances, the admission of the confession will nevertheless be upheld on appeal, but only if a reasonable review of the evidence clearly supports voluntariness." In this particular matter, the lower Court states, in part, the following:

"The Court: Well, the Court can only go on the evidence that's adduced at this hearing, and the evidence is that he was picked up. He was approached while at work, and he asked if he would come and talk with him.

He rode in the front seat, probably five or six miles from Davis Stewart to the Lewisburg Police Department, was taken into a room, which I guess is the interrogation room. It's a small room it appears. There's no window. There is a door there.

He was seated off to the kind of catty-cornered, at the corner of the desk, and that interview took place 45 minutes, and I would have to, I guess conceivably those circumstances could amount to a custodial-type situation of coercive-type interrogation, but there's been no testimony as to his level of sophistication, his intelligence, his demeanor, the impact it had on him or any of that.

For me to conclude that what it – it was custodial or he was coerced, I can't based on the testimony so the preponderance at this point is that it was not custodial. A preponderance is that

it was voluntarily given at this point, and so it may be admitted into evidence at trial..." (App. 127-128). But at the time, there were several unanswered questions that should have addressed then.

First of all, the standard used in determining the voluntariness is first the totality of the circumstances as expressed above with the added factor of was the petitioner's freedom restricted in any significant way. State v. Hardway, 385 S.E.2d 69, 182 W.Va. 1 (1989). At this point, it is clear when the officer picked the petitioner up at work and drove him five or six miles to the city police station, and not letting him drive his own car to the city police station. Similar situations in other jurisdictions have been enough to make a statement not voluntary. (People v. Altieri, 355 N.Y.S. 2d 722, 77 Mis. 2d 1038 (N.Y. City Ct.1974), where impounding a car constituted a denial; State v. Farris. 109 Ohio St. 3d 519, 849 N.E.2d 985, 2006 3255 (Ohio 2006) where taking someone's car keys constituted a denial; and State v. Werner, 117 N.M. 315, 871 P. 2d 971, 1994 NMSC 25 (N.M. 1994) where locked in a car for forty-five minutes constituted a denial.)⁶,⁷

However, the most glaring omission in the May 20, 2013 suppression hearing is a meaningful discussion of the petitioner's mental capacity, or lack thereof. Once again, it bears repeating under the current case law such as State v. Farley, 452 S.E.2d 50, 192 W.Va. 247 (1994), the voluntariness of a statement is based on the totality of the circumstances. Also, this High Court has said previously that a petitioner's mental condition is a factor that must be considered in determining the totality of the circumstances. In fact, such cases as State v. Hamrick, 166 W.Va. 673, 236 S.E.2d 247 (1977), state the following: "Confessions cited by law

⁶ It should be pointed out that 45 minutes is about the same amount of time Mr. Campbell spent in the interrogation room.

⁷ Out of an abundance of caution, current counsel wishes to include arguments found in the Motion to Suppress the Defendant's Statement found on pages 538 – 543 in the appendix.

enforcement authorities from persons suspected of crimes who because of mental condition cannot knowledgeably and intelligently waive their right to counsel are inadmissible." However, after reviewing the cases in West Virginia concerning the mental condition of a defendant and the voluntariness of a statement, the most instructive case as it relates to the petitioner's situation may be State v. Parsons, 381 S.E.2d 246, 181 W.Va. 131 (1989). Briefly, in Parsons, 381 S.E.2d 246, 181 W.Va. 131 (1989), that defendant had a valid IQ of 75 and was told/shown three times of his Miranda warnings. In that case, this High Court said the statement was voluntary. If that is the case, then, as in this case, the petitioner has a valid IQ of 74 (App. 468), and was mever read his Miranda warning, the statement cannot be ruled voluntary. For a more in dept and professional understanding of why said statement was not voluntary, petitioner's counsel points this Court to the report of Michael Sheridan at pages 476-477 of the appendix. In the report, Mr. Sheridan opines, in part:

"There is no evidence that Mr. Campbell was read his Miranda rights prior to his interrogation, and it is my understanding that such notification was not legally required in the circumstances. However, he clearly possessed those rights, whether reminded of them or not, and the determination of "voluntariness" of his confession turns on whether he understood that he was waiving those rights, and did so in a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary way.

As we have seen from results of the *Miranda* Rights Comprehension Instruments, Mr. Campbell's Comprehension of his *Miranda* rights, and particularly the vocabulary used in the typical *Miranda* notifications, is imperfect at best. However, that comprehension is largely consistent with that of others in the general population, and particularly those with limited intellectual functioning. He had particular difficulty comprehending and explaining the nature of the interrogation process when presented with various examples.

Additionally, several of the officer's interrogation tactics would have had the effect of diminishing Mr. Campbell's comprehension of the situation, particularly taking into account his borderline intellectual functioning, and his knowledge of interrogation techniques which was limited to fictional television presentations. In particular, the officer appeared to overstate the strengths of the case against Mr. Campbell, and also implied that a confession would be helpful rather than harmful

to him, thus making it more difficult for Mr. Campbell to perceive the naturally adversarial nature of the interaction.

Taking these issues into account, and considering the totality of the situation, it is highly unlikely that the defendant's behavior was "knowing" in the sense that he understood that he was waiving his rights. To the contrary, it is highly unlikely that consideration of his rights entered into his decision-making process at that point.

It is equally difficult to conclude that his though process was intelligent, reflecting a rational reasoning process. Rather, it appears that his primary motivation was to reduce the stress he was experiencing at that time by ending the interrogation process quickly. A more self-protective behavior would have been to request an attorney or request an end to the interview rather than to confess in order to escape the situation.

Finally, there is no evidence that the interview situation was "so coercive that the defendant's will was overborne." Generally, courts have considered interrogations of six hours or more, or promises of either harsh consequences or significant leniency to be coercive; I see no evidence that anything occurred in this situation which remotely approaches that standard.

Finally, one must consider whether there are aspects of Mr. Campbell's functioning which are apt to make him especially vulnerable to influence by the police. The mere presence of borderline intellectual functioning does not support a constitutional claim that a confession was involuntarily made. Rather, there must be some evidence that the police took advantage of the defendant's condition. I am aware of no evidence that the police could have know Mr. Campbell's level of intellectual functioning, much less that they took undue advantage thereof. The results of the MISS indicate that Mr. Campbell's overall suggestibility is average compared to the norm reference group. Consequently, there is no reason to conclude that he was overly suggestible or more susceptible to standard police interrogation methods than the average suspect in a similar situation.

In summary, while Mr. Campbell is not unusually suggestible, and was not subjected to undue coercion, it would be difficult to argue that his confession was either "knowing" or "intelligent". Therefore, taking into account the totality of the situation, Mr. Campbell's competency to confess is highly questionable."

At this time, the petitioner's counsel would state that this High Court has the information as to the petitioner's mental condition and it <u>must</u> be considered in the "totality of the circumstances". Granted, the lower Court did not have said information at the time, so its

ruling was flawed, through no fault of its own. However, what is equally true is that the petitioner is low functioning mentally and it would be just as foolhardy to assess responsibility to him. Therefore, current counsel argues in another part of this memoranda that it was ineffective assistance of counsel of the trial counsel to proceed in this manner, but in doing so, it does not truly address this issue of the "voluntariness of the statement" in question. According to former Justice Cleckley in State v. Farley, 452 S.E.2d 50, 192 W.Va. 247 (1994), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals is constitutionally obligated to make plenary, independent appellate determinations of whether a statement in question is or was voluntary under the law. As this memoranda is tendered to this High Court, that includes everything in the Appendix, such as the psychological examination (App. 458-477).

2. The lower Court's failure to give a jury instruction on the voluntariness of the petitioner's November 29, 2011 statement after trial counsel requested it is in error and requires reversal.

The petitioner's trial counsel offered at least two jury instructions on the issue of voluntariness in a broad sense. (Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 1 (App. 616) and Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3 (App. 618). Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction Number 1 states the following:

"You are instructed that, the burden is upon the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that any statements made by the Defendant were made voluntarily, and pursuant to the knowing and intelligent waiver of his fifth amendment right against self incrimination. If you find that the State has failed to meet this burden you must not consider the statement in your deliberations. State v. Bradshaw, 193 W.Va. 519, 457 S.E. 2d 456 (1995)."

Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction Number 3 states the following:

"You are instructed that there is a legal presumption against the waiver of ones right against self incrimination as set forth in *Miranda* v. Arizona, to overcome this the State must

prove by at least a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant, John Campbell, made a knowing and voluntary waiver of his rights pursuant to <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u> to remain silent and not make a statement to Deputy Baker in this case. If you find that he did not so waive his rights, you must not consider any part of any statements made by him during your deliberations. <u>Brewer v. William</u>, 430 U.S. 387 (1977), <u>U.S. v. Grant</u>, 545 F.2d 942 (4th Cir.), cert denied, 432 U.S. 908 (1977).

Both instructions were offered by the defense (App. 325-326), but were denied by the trial Court (App. 327). The basic grounds for denial given by the trial Court were two. First, involved a non-custodial statement (App. 327) and/or instructions were cumulative (App. 327). Petitioner's current counsel states said findings by the trial Court to be lacking and unsupported by West Virginia law.

To begin with, in State v. Hinkle, 200 W.Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996), it clearly states, as a general rule the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is review for an abuse of discretion standard. By contrast, a question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law and the review is de novo. In this instance, the petitioner's current counsel would state that both types of review must take place. Since 1978, West Virginia has closely followed the Massachusetts rule as opposed to the orthodox rule when it comes to the voluntariness of statements and jury instructions. See State v. Vance. 162 W.Va. 467, 250 S.E.2d 148 (1978) and State v. Wilson, 190 W.Va. 583, 439 S.E.2d 448 (1993). Then, the next question is, were those instructions requested by petitioner's trial counsel. The answer is most definitely yes. (App. 325-326.) Case law on this matter states that once a jury instruction is requested, the jury instruction must be given. See State v. Wilson, 190 W.Va. 583, 439 S.E.2d 448 (1993). Petitioner's current counsel cannot find anywhere in the case law where the phrase "must" is limited by a non-custodial interrogation. Alternatively, to limit said jury instruction to only custodial interrogations would seem to take out the "humane" element of the so-called

Massachusetts rule as it is understood. And, to argue otherwise would also lessen the meaning of the word "must" as used by this Court.

Next, the prosecutor at trial argues that in some manner, defendant's proposed jury instruction one and three are cumulative in nature to the jury charge at trial. The part of the Court's jury charge covering the petitioner's statement can be found on pages 353-54 of the Appendix. That part of the jury charge reads as follows.

"The Court instructs the jury that under the law of this State, the "confession" or "statement" offered into evidence by the State may be considered by the jury in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant of the crime charged in this case, only if the jury believes that the State has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that such statement was freely and voluntarily made without threat or coercion or a promise of reward, and that if you do not believe that the State has met this burden of proof, it is your duty to disregard such statement entirely."

If one compares either of the petitioner's proposed instructions and the jury charge given at trial, the jury charge is lacking in one critical area. The jury charge does not use language such as "his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination" or "his rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694 (1966), to remain silent and not make a statement. Petitioner's current counsel would argue that those phrases, or phrases like them, left out of the jury charge are important and critical. Phrases such as the ones left out imply at the very least a standard if not a duty that officers must employ. Without said language the jury charge is incomplete and if the jury charge is incomplete then it is not a correct statement of the law and must fail. That is to say, under West Virginia law, if a jury instruction is not complete and not covered by other instructions, it is reversible error. See State v. Hinkle, supra; State v. Woodrum, (W.Va. 2020); State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (W.Va. 1995); and State v. Jenkins, 191 W.Va. 87, 443 S.E.2d 244 (1994).

 The petitioner's trial counsel's inactions in the May 20, 2013 suppression hearing rises to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel which also requires reversal. A defendant in a criminal case is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel by both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution. Pursuant to the decision in <u>State v. Clawson</u>, 165 W.Va. 588, 270 S.E.2d 659 (1980), a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus is the proper remedy for a lack of the effective assistance of counsel.

In the decision of <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974), the Court held that, in determining whether or not an accused had be prejudiced by the ineffective assistance of counsel, the Court should compare the performance of the counsel in question and the normal and customary skill possessed by attorneys who have a reasonable knowledge of criminal law. The Court continued that the burden of proof to show that the assistance of counsel was ineffective was upon the petitioner, and that the petitioner must show such ineffective assistance of counsel by a preponderance of the evidence. The Court further held that the error of counsel must be such as would have changed the outcome of the trial.

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