FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 20-0099

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

v.

JOHN THOMAS CAMPBELL,

Respondent.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from a January 24, 2020, Order Circuit Court of Greenbrier County Case No. 12-F-34

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT E. JOHNSON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 6335 Office of the Attorney General 812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor Charleston, WV 25301 Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Scott.e.johnson@wvago.gov

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

the police are not bound to deliver *Miranda* warnings and obtain a proper waiver of the rights to silence and counsel before questioning a suspect."); *McIntosh v. State*, 829 N.E.2d 531, 540 (Ind. Ct. App. 2005) ("Because she was not in custody, the police were not required to obtain a voluntary waiver of her *Miranda* rights."). In the absence of the right to the warnings detailing one's rights under *Miranda*, the Petitioner's ability to intelligently and knowingly waive those rights is of no moment. "Because [the Petitioner] was not in custody, the police were not obligated to administer the *Miranda* warnings. Because they were under no obligation to do so, it follows that they were under no obligation to obtain a waiver of those rights from h[im]. Therefore it is immaterial whether h[is] waiver of h[is] constitutional rights was knowing, intelligent or voluntary[.]" *Commonwealth v. Walton*, No. CP46CR000046592015, 2016 WL 3014810, at *5 (Pa. Ct. Common Pleas Jan. 22, 2016).

In the absence of the obligation to provide *Miranda* warnings, the only question becomes whether the confession itself was otherwise voluntary. *See United States v. Baird*, 851 F.2d 376, 382 (D.C. Cir. 1988) ("Having concluded that Baird was not in custody (and hence not subject to a custodial interrogation. . .), we now decide whether he had been subjected to coercive conduct that caused him to make an involuntary confession."). And the Petitioner's confession in this case was clearly voluntary.

2. The Petitioner's statements in his interview with Corporal Baker were constitutionally voluntary.

To the extent the Petitioner is claiming that his statements made at the interview with Corporal Baker were involuntary under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, he also cannot prevail. The test of voluntariness of a confession is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, law enforcement officers have overborne the will of the accused. *Haynes v. Washington*, 373 U.S. 503, 513-14 (1963). Thus, "[a] confession that has been found to be

involuntary in the sense that it was not the product of the freewill of the defendant cannot be used by the State for any purpose at trial." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Goff, 169 W. Va. 778, 289 S.E.2d 473 (1982). A "necessary predicate" to finding a confession involuntary is that the confession was produced through "coercive police activity." Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986). "Absent an allegation of coercive police tactics to obtain the statement . . . the confession will not be deemed involuntary." Singleton v. Thigpen, 847 F.2d 668, 671 (11th Cir. 1988); see also United States v. Blake, 481 F. App'x 961, 962 (5th Cir. 2012) ("Thus, in the absence of evidence of official coercion, a defendant will have not established that his confession was involuntary."); United States v. Kime, 99 F.3d 870, 880 (8th Cir. 1996) ("A confession may not be found involuntary absent some type of coercive activity on the part of law enforcement officials."); Bae v. Peters, 950 F.2d 469, 475 (7th Cir. 1991) ("Absent improper police coercion, a defendant's mental state does not render a confession involuntary under the due process clause.").

In the instant case, the Petitioner has produced no evidence that Corporal Baker engaged in any coercive police activity. Indeed, even Mr. Sheridan's report reflects that "there is no evidence that the interview was 'so coercive that the [Petitioner's] will was overborne[,]" A.R. 476, and that the Petitioner "was not subjected to undue coercion[.]" A.R. 477.5

⁵For this reason, the Petitioner's reliance on Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Hamrick, 160 W. Va. 673, 236 S.E.2d 247 (1977) ("Confessions elicited by law enforcement authorities from persons suspected of crimes who because of mental condition cannot knowledgeably and intelligently waive their right to counsel are inadmissible."), Pet' Br. at 5-6, is misplaced. In State v. Honaker, 193 W. Va. 51, 61 n.14, 454 S.E.2d 96, 106 n.14 (1994), this Court observed that "in Hamrick this Court implicitly suggested that the police took advantage of the defendant's mental deficiencies." In the instant case, there is no evidence that Corporal Baker took advantage of the Petitioner. Indeed, as Mr. Sheridan's report provides, "I am aware of no evidence that the police could have known [the Petitioner's] level of intellectual functioning, much less that they took undue advantage thereof." A.R. 477. Mr. Sheridan's report is also fatal to any claim that the Petitioner's mental status affected the custody calculus. See Hannon v. State, 84 P.3d 320, 339 (Wyo. 2004)

The Petitioner has not shown coercive conduct on the part of Corporal Baker. As such, the circuit court did not err in refusing to suppress the statements made by the Petitioner to Corporal Baker. The judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

B. The circuit court did not err in refusing to give the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instructions Nos. 1 and 3.

In Syllabus Point 4 of State v. Vance, 162 W. Va. 467, 250 S.E.2d 146 (1978), this Court stated, "[w]e adopt the 'Massachusetts' or 'humane' rule whereby the jury can consider the voluntariness of the confession, and we approve of an instruction telling the jury to disregard the confession unless it finds that the State has proved by a preponderance of the evidence it was made voluntarily." The Petitioner offered two instructions in this case claiming they fit under the Massachusetts rule. The first of these instructions was the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 1 which provided:

You are instructed that, the burden is upon the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that any statements made by the Defendant were made voluntarily, and pursuant to the knowing and intelligent waiver of his fifth amendment right against self incrimination. If you find the State has failed to meet this burden you must not consider the statement in your deliberations. *State v. Bradshaw*, 193 W. Va. 519, 457 S.E.2d 456 (1995).

A.R. 616. The second of these instructions was the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3 which provided:

You are instructed that there is a legal presumption against the waiver of ones [sic] right against self incrimination as set forth in *Miranda v. Arizona*, to overcome this the State must prove by at least a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant, John Campbell, made a knowing and voluntary waiver of his rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona* to remain silent and not make a statement to Deputy Baker in this case. If you find that he did not so waive his rights, you must not consider any part of any statements made by him during your deliberations. *Brewer v. William*, 430 U.S. 387 (1977), *U.S. v. Grant*, 545 F.2d 942 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 432 U.S. 908 (1977).

A.R. 618.

The circuit court rejected the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 1 because it had already found that the statement was non-custodial and because it would otherwise be covered by the Court's instructions to the jury. A.R. 327. The circuit court rejected the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No, 3 for the same reasons it rejected the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 1. A.R. 327. The Petitioner contends that the circuit court erred in refusing his Proposed Jury Instructions. Pet'r Br. at 8. As the circuit court did not err in refusing the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instructions Nos. 1 and 3, the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

The standard of review governing this assignment of error is set forth in Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Hinkle, 200 W. Va. 280, 489 S.E.2d 257 (1996): "As a general rule, the refusal to give a requested jury instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. By contrast, the question of whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law, and the review is de novo."

As this Court has recognized, "[i]n general, the question on review of the sufficiency of jury instructions is whether the instructions as a whole were sufficient to inform the jury correctly of the particular law and the theory of defense." *State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 607, 476 S.E.2d 535, 554 (1996). A defendant "is not entitled to repetitive or redundant instructions covering substantially the same subject matter." *State v. Putnam*, 157 W. Va. 899, 903, 205 S.E.2d 815, 818 (1974). Thus, "[i]t is not reversible error to refuse to give instructions offered by a party that are adequately covered by other instructions given by the court." Syl. Pt. 20, *State v. Hamric*, 151 W. Va. 1, 151 S.E.2d 252 (1966). Because the instruction the circuit court gave to the jury was sufficient, the fact that the circuit court did not give the Petitioner's instructions was not error.

The circuit court instructed the jury in this case:

The Court instructs the jury that under the law of this State, the "confession" or "statement" offered into evidence by the State may be considered by the jury in determining the guilt or innocence of the [Petitioner] of the crime charged in this case, only if the jury believes that the State has proven by a preponderance of the

evidence that such statement was freely and voluntarily made without threat or coercion or a promise of reward, and that if you do not believe that the State has met this burden of proof, it is your duty to disregard such statement entirely.

A.R. 353-54. The Petitioner asserts that the circuit court's instruction was incomplete because it did not contain language such as "his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination" or "his rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694 (1966), to remain silent and not make a statement." Pet'r Br. at 10. The Petitioner is incorrect.

A somewhat similar claim to the one the Petitioner is making here was rejected by this Court in State v. Phillips, 205 W. Va. 673, 520 S.E.2d 670 (1999). Phillips was convicted of disorderly conduct, assault on a police officer, and obstructing a police officer. Phillips's defense was that her conduct was protected under the First Amendment. To that end, she offered a jury instruction providing,"'[t]he Court instructs the jury that under the laws of the State of West Virginia, every person has a First Amendment right to question or challenge the authority of a police officer, provided that fighting words or other opprobrious language is not used." Phillips. 205 W. Va. at 685 n.13, 520 S.E.2d at 682 n.13. The circuit court declined this instruction, but gave one that provided, "'[t]he Court instructs the jury that merely questioning or remonstrating with an officer while he is performing his duty does not ordinarily constitute the offense of obstructing an officer." Id. at 673 n.14, 520 S.E.2d at 682 n.14. Phillips claimed that the lack of reference to the First Amendment in the latter instruction meant the latter instruction was not covered in the previous instruction. Id. at 685, 520 S.E.2d at 682 ("Appellant maintains, however, that the issue of her First Amendment rights was not covered at all in any other instruction or the actual charge given to the jury."). In rejecting Phillips's argument, this Court found that the instruction that was given covered what conduct was protected by the First Amendment. The only thing missing between the two instructions was reference to the First Amendment. This Court

considered this of no moment for it concluded that as long as the jury was instructed as to the proper substance of the law, it was not entitled to know the legal basis from which the instruction was derived. *Id.*, 520 S.E.2d at 682. In the instant case, the jury was properly instructed as to whether to consider the Petitioner's statements. A.R. 353-54. The jury, per *Phillips*, was not entitled to know the legal basis for the instruction.

Furthermore, the Petitioner's Jury Instruction No. 3 relates to *Miranda* rights. As observed by one leading treatise, the Massachusetts rule should not extend to allowing the jury to address claims under *Miranda*. 3 Wayne R. LaFave, et al., *Criminal Procedure* § 10.5(a) (4th ed. 2015) ("The better view, however, is that the [Massachusetts] rule is inappropriate when the confession has been challenged on *Miranda* grounds rather than under the traditional voluntariness test."). Additionally, even if the Massachusetts rule did extend to *Miranda* claims, the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3 is still fatally flawed and the circuit court correctly rejected it.

"It has been consistently held in criminal cases that instructions which are confusing, misleading or which incorrectly state the law should not be given." State v. Butcher, 165 W. Va. 522, 528, 270 S.E.2d 156, 160 (1980). The Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3 is misleading. The Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3 provides that Miranda warnings are required whenever there is interrogation and that the police must obtain waivers of these rights before speaking to an interviewee. But, as shown above, this is simply legally incorrect. The interrogation must be coupled with custody before Miranda rights are required to be given and waivers secured. The Petitioner's Proposed Instruction No. 3 omits this critically necessary requirement of custody before Miranda rights are required to be given and a waiver thereof obtained. The circuit court properly denied the Petitioner's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 3.

The judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.

C. The Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is not properly before this Court.

The Petitioner claims that his trial counsel was ineffective. Pet'r Br. at 10. This claim is not currently cognizable before this Court as this case is presently before this Court on a direct appeal. "As an initial matter, we observe that petitioners ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not properly before this Court on a direct appeal." *State v. Brichner*, No. 14-0659, 2015 WL 1236005, at *2 (W. Va. Mar. 16, 2015) (memorandum decision). "Traditionally, ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not cognizable on direct appeal." *State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky*, 195 W. Va. 314, 318 n.1, 465 S.E.2d 416, 420 n.1 (1995). "In past cases, this Court has cautioned that '[i]neffective assistance claims raised on direct appeal are presumptively subject to dismissal." *State v. Woodson*, 222 W. Va. 607, 621, 671 S.E.2d 438, 452 (2008) (per curiam) (quoting *State v. Miller*, 197 W.Va. 588, 611, 476 S.E.2d 535, 558 (1996)).

It is the extremely rare case when this Court will find ineffective assistance of counsel . . . on a direct appeal. The prudent defense counsel first develops the record regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in a habeas corpus proceeding before the lower court, and may then appeal if such relief is denied. This Court may then have a fully developed record on this issue upon which to more thoroughly review an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

Syl. Pt. 10, State v. Triplett, 187 W.Va. 760, 421 S.E.2d 511 (1992). Moreover, we have explained that

[t]he very nature of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim demonstrates the inappropriateness of review on direct appeal. To the extent that a defendant relies on strategic and judgment calls of his or her trial counsel to prove an ineffective assistance claim, the defendant is at a decided disadvantage. Lacking an adequate record, an appellate court simply is unable to determine the egregiousness of many of the claimed deficiencies.

State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 15, 459 S.E.2d 114, 126 (1995). As noted by the Petitioner himself, "a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus is a proper remedy for a lack of the effective assistance of counsel." Pet'r Br. at 11.

This Court should refuse to address the Petitioner's ineffective assistance of counsel claim to allow the Petitioner to develop the claim in a habeas corpus proceeding.

D. There is no cumulative error in this case.

The Petitioner invokes the cumulative error doctrine, Pet'r Br. at 15. Under the cumulative error doctrine,

Where the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though any one of such errors standing alone would be harmless error.

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